## The Adverse Human Rights Risks and Impacts of European Companies: Getting a glimpse of the picture





The Adverse Human Rights Risks and Impacts of European Companies: Getting a glimpse of the picture

Antwerp, October 2014

#### Acknowledgements

This study is the outcome of work undertaken by a number of staff members, interns and volunteers of IPIS. Whilst it is not possible to name all the individuals involved in this project, IPIS would like to extend its sincere gratitude to all those who contributed to this paper with their comments, time and initiative.

**International Peace Information Service (IPIS)** is an independent research institute, providing governmental and non-governmental actors with information and analysis to build sustainable peace and development in Sub-Saharan Africa. The research is centred around four programmes: Natural Resources, Business & Human Rights, Arms Trade & Security, and Conflict Mapping.

### **Executive Summary**

This report presents the findings of a study undertaken by IPIS and commissioned by the European Coalition for Corporate Justice on the extent to which European companies are identified in concerns about adverse human rights risks and impacts. Gathering concerns raised regarding the human rights risks and impacts of companies listed on the UK's FTSE 100, France's CAC 40 and the German DAX 30, this study has found that over half of these companies have been identified in allegations or concerns regarding adverse human rights risks and impacts reported on between 2005 and early 2013. Many of these risks and impacts relate to operations outside the European Union, with the most severe often alleged to occur in countries in which rule of law and institutions are weak.

The risks and impacts identified in claims canvassed by this study indicate that the range of rights and impacts potentially affected by European companies is comparable to those identified by the then UN Special Representative on Business and Human Rights in his 2008 study. The study also highlights that human rights concerns raised often present sector specific trends. Thus for example, whilst the European extractives sector has raised particular issues surrounding security and human rights as well as the impact of environmental harm on rights enjoyment abroad, companies retailing or producing goods for consumption are often associated with adverse human rights risks or impacts, particularly around labour rights and sourcing, through business structures or relationships in their supply chains. These findings indicate a need to guarantee that human rights due diligence is carried out by companies, particularly as regards operations abroad, through mandatory regulation. This is necessary to ensure both that those engaging in responsible human rights practices benefit from a level playing field, and to drive human rights considerations beyond communications departments and into corporate management practices. Indeed, in some cases, this study has found allegations of concerning corporate practices regarding the management of human rights related information. Only the future will tell whether the new European legislation on the disclosure of non-financial information, which imposes reporting requirements on certain large companies, will truly provide all stakeholders with the information they need on human rights risks and impacts.

This report comes at a time when concerns about the human rights impacts of transnational businesses have led some states to call for a legally binding international instrument on business and human rights. Such calls have been met by assertions that the implementation of the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights remains in its infancy. It is hoped that this study may assist in devising a clearer picture of the work that lies ahead in implementing the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights effectively through the EU's corporate social responsibility agenda. Specifically, the report highlights the urgency of the need for the EU and its Member States to ensure that companies are effectively discharging their duty to put in place human rights due diligence, and address the obstacles to access to justice for victims of corporate abuse - an issue that has largely been ignored until now.

## **Table of Contents**

Introduction	5
Corporate Social Responsibility, Human Rights and the EU	6
Approach to this research	8
Methodology	8
Concerns about Adverse Human Rights Risks and Impacts of European Companies	11
United Kingdom	11
France	13
Germany	14
Sector specific features of adverse human rights risks and impacts	15
Natural Resource Sector	15
Finance	17
Consumer	18
Other	19
Final observations	20
Due diligence	20
Voluntary Initiatives	21
Disclosure of information on human rights impacts	22
Access to Remedies	23
Concluding Remarks	24
Endnotes	25

## Introduction

2011 was a milestone year for the advancement of standards regarding business and human rights. The United Nations Human Rights Council's endorsement of the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights finally marked the promulgation of standards explicitly addressing the adverse human rights impact of business activities that could be mutually agreed upon by both States and private actors. Whilst responses to the efficacy of the UN's approach have been mixed,<sup>1</sup> the Guiding Principles have nevertheless generated considerable momentum around managing human rights risks and addressing the adverse impacts of corporate activity at the international, regional and national levels, influencing the shape of change in Europe.

Understanding and implementing the Guiding Principles themselves will require the cooperation of all governments, as well as businesses and civil society. Indeed, their promulgation was only the first step in the long and challenging process of their actualisation. As one of the world's leading trading centres and host to some of the most globally powerful transnational corporations, the European Union (EU) has a key role to play in this process. Over the last ten years, the EU has sought to pioneer the promotion of Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR). It is under the auspices of this agenda that it seeks to contribute to the operationalization of the UN "Protect, Respect, Remedy" Framework for business and human rights.

To build a clearer picture of the work that lies ahead in implementing the UN Guiding Principles, the European Coalition for Corporate Justice commissioned IPIS to conduct research into the extent to which European companies are identified in concerns about adverse human rights risks and impacts. It is hoped that a quantitative assessment in this regard and some indication of the range of human rights issues raised with regard to companies listed in three powerful EU Members States (the UK, France and Germany), can help to better inform key actors in Europe's contribution to furthering the business and human rights agenda.

Indeed, it is hoped that this study might be used to inform discussion in developing policies and legislation to implement the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights.

# Corporate Social Responsibility, Human Rights and the EU

In 2001, the European Commission (EC) published a Green Paper on Corporate Social Responsibility heralding the EU's first CSR policy. The EC anticipated that a strong policy in this regard could contribute to the EU's strategic goal of becoming "the most competitive and dynamic knowledge-based economy in the world capable of sustainable economic growth with more and better jobs and a greater social cohesion"<sup>2</sup>.

The last ten years, characterised as they have been by growing economic crisis and developments in the field of business and human rights, have seen the EC's approach to CSR change substantially. Whereas in 2001 the EC defined CSR as something "whereby companies integrate social and environmental concerns in their business operations and in their interaction with their stakeholders on a voluntary basis",<sup>3</sup> by 2011 that notion had evolved to denote "the responsibility of enterprises for their impacts on society."4 At a multi-stakeholder forum on CSR the Commission explicitly stated that "CSR must be based on respect for legislation and collective agreements. Public authorities should 'set policies and regulations necessary to [...] ensure corporate accountability. [They] should make use of a smart mix of voluntary and regulatory measures."<sup>5</sup>

This evolution in the EU's understanding of CSR reflects how this concept has moved beyond notions of corporate philanthropy to denote corporate responsibility and increased accountability. It mirrors progress made at the UN level, and is how references to 'CSR' are understood in this report.

The EU's implementation of the UN Framework started in 2010 with the EC's publication of a report on the existing legal framework governing the application of human rights and environmental standards to EU companies operating outside the European Union.<sup>6</sup> This study indicated that the European legal framework already considerably contributes to the implementation of the UN Framework, though many legal gaps and incoherent policies persist.<sup>7</sup>

European Commission Vice-President, Antonio Tajani, welcomed the Human Rights Commission's adoption of the UN Guiding Principles, highlighting their importance as a key reference point for the EU's renewed CSR policy.<sup>8</sup> That renewed strategy was outlined in a 2011 EU Communication on CSR, released in October of

#### UN mobilization on Business and Human Rights

In 2008 the United Nations Human Rights Council (HRC) unanimously adopted the UN "Protect, Respect and Remedy" Framework on business and human rights in its resolution 8/7. This Framework provided a long awaited authoritative focal point for international efforts on managing business impacts on human rights. It is founded on three pillars:

- The State duty to protect against human rights abuses by third parties, including businesses, through appropriate policies, regulation and adjudication;
- The corporate responsibility to respect human rights, which requires companies to undertake due diligence to avoid infringing upon the rights of others and address the adverse impacts of their business activities;
- The **need for greater access by victims to effective remedies**, both judicial and non-judicial.

With the 2011 HRC endorsement of the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights, a common global platform for the implementation of the UN "Protect, Respect and Remedy" Framework was established. Providing concrete and practical recommendations on the realization of each pillar of the Framework, the Guiding Principles have heralded the start of efforts to operationalise it at national, regional and international levels. that year. The Communication indicated that companies have a responsibility to identify, prevent and mitigate the possible adverse impacts of their operations on society. Furthermore the EU was explicit in stating that companies should carry out risk-based due diligence and that it expects all European enterprises to meet their corporate responsibility to respect human rights, as defined in the UN Guiding Principles.<sup>9</sup>

As well as redefining CSR, the Commission's policy stipulated an action agenda containing Commission commitments, as well as recommendations for businesses, Member States and stakeholders, in moving the CSR agenda forward.<sup>10</sup> Commitments were made in 8 areas, including notably:

*Improving and tracking levels of trust in business* – This priority has seen efforts to address green-washing, including public consultation and the presentation of an initial report on the application of Directive 2005/29/EC concerning unfair business-to-consumer commercial practices encompassing corporate environmental claims.<sup>11</sup> It has also entailed efforts to gauge public views on the influence of companies on society, with a Eurobarometer survey finding that over one in four Europeans believe that the overall influence of companies on society in their own countries is negative (41%). This average encompassed 37% of UK citizens, 37% French citizens and 46% of German citizens.<sup>12</sup> The same survey also discovered that over 6 in 10 European citizens (62%) say that they do not feel sufficiently informed about what companies do with regard to socially responsible behaviour.<sup>13</sup> Significantly, a previous survey had found that over eight in ten Europeans (81%) believe that companies have social and ethical responsibilities when investing in developing countries, with almost nine in ten (87%) agreeing that the EU should ensure that companies comply with social and ethical standards.<sup>14</sup>

*Improving company disclosure of social and environmental issues* – In June 2013 the European Parliament adopted new transparency rules for extractives and logging companies, requiring the disclosure of all payments over €100,000 to and from governments on a country basis.<sup>15</sup> These rules were a compromise after heavy lobbying by industry and NGOs. Whilst criticised by some quarters,<sup>16</sup> they are expected to aid anti-corruption efforts in these sectors. Disclosure is also being discussed in banking sector reform.

Recent reform on non-financial reporting marked another significant step towards enhancing transparency. Adopted by the European Parliament in April 2014 and the European Council in September, reforms to the EU's Accounting Directives will require "public interest entities" - most of them large companies (with over 500 employees) – to report annually on at least environmental, social and employee related matters, respect for human rights, anti-corruption and bribery.<sup>17</sup> Reports must include a description of the policies pursued on these matters, including due diligence processes used to identify, prevent and mitigate risks, as well as policy outcomes, principle risks identified and how they are managed. This information should cover both the company's own operations and, where relevant and proportionate, its supply chains and business relationships. Where the company does not pursue policies on any matter stipulated in the rule it must explain why.<sup>18</sup> The reform recognises that risks must be disclosed regardless of what a company considers to be relevant (i.e. material) to the interests of its shareholders – the predominant organising principle of the accounting law before the reform. This legislation represents a first step towards embedding the corporate responsibility to respect human rights and the environment, as expressed in the UN Guiding Principles and OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises, into EU law. Nevertheless, NGOs have criticised the restricted scope of the directive, which excludes many of Europe's major transnational corporations. Moreover, lack of adequate provision for enforcement mechanisms and a failure to provide clear instructions as to the standard of reporting on risks and impacts throughout company operations are said to weaken the rule.<sup>19</sup>

*Better aligning EU and global approaches to CSR* – The Commission has committed to implementing the UN Guiding Principles, inviting Member States to develop national action plans to the same end by 2012. However, despite undertaking to report on EU priorities in implementing the Guiding Principles by 2012 (and annually thereafter), the Commission has still not produced its report. Moreover, of 28 Member States, only four have finalised their national action plans to date. The Commission has nevertheless tried to enhance the global applicability of standards among companies by publishing an introductory guide to human rights for small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs), as well as sector specific human rights guidance for enterprises in the oil and gas, ICT and employment and recruitment industries.<sup>20</sup>

## **Approach to this research**

To date, there have been a limited number of studies regarding the extent to which companies are involved in adverse human rights risks and impacts. Numerous NGO reports describe cases in which companies have been implicated in such concerns across the globe, yet very few have endeavoured to enumerate them. There is no institutional system in place to scrutinise the impact of transnational corporations on human rights and the environment. As such, conflicts between companies and civil society are currently predominantly fought through the media and on the internet. Acting as a nucleus for information and interactions in this arena, the Business and Human Rights Resource Centre (BHRRC) has established itself as the key resource. The BHRRC updates its website hourly with news and reports about the positive and negative human rights and environmental impacts of companies worldwide.<sup>21</sup> As the website contains tens of thousands of articles on the full range of business and human rights issues, it is impossible to grasp the potential adverse risks and impacts of corporate activities at a glance. Moreover, there are numerous reports and articles that the portal is unable to capture. Providing a digestible overview in a given country or region therefore requires some systematic collection of data.

The former United Nations Special Representative of the Secretary-General (SRSG) on the issue of human rights and transnational corporations and other business enterprises, John Ruggie, has carried out one such study. Based on a sample of 320 cases posted on the BHRRC website from February 2005 to December 2007, in 2008 the SRSG scoped preliminary patterns of alleged corporate-related human rights harms.

Another 2008 study illuminating the scope of corporate harms was carried out by ESCR-Net. In collaboration with 40 human rights and development organisations, ESCR-Net surveyed 159 cases from 66 countries, involving more than 250 companies operating in over 30 different industries.<sup>22</sup> Both studies uncovered the same patterns of harm, concluding that business impacts on fundamental rights are not limited to certain regions, and occur in all sectors and affect all forms of rights.<sup>23</sup>

As both studies were conducted in 2008 and are too general to discern conclusions regarding the activities of European companies, the ECCJ commissioned IPIS to conduct a quantitative study of European corporate involvement in claims about adverse human rights risks and impacts.

#### Methodology

Due to time and resource constraints in preparing the current report, quantitative analysis has focused on an assessment of companies based in three of Europe's most powerful countries: the UK, France and Germany.

Approaches to deciding which companies to analyse and how to define their nationality can differ between studies. For the purposes of *this* study the companies under scrutiny were those publically listed in the UK, France and Germany. The decision to focus on listed companies should not be taken to suggest that the operations of non-listed companies do not equally entail adverse human rights risks and impacts. For broader coverage and reflecting the scope of recent revisions to the EU's Accounting Directives, which covers certain "public interest entities" – a category that includes both some companies incorporated and listed in EU Member States *and* companies registered in third countries but listed on EU regulated markets – this research was not restricted to companies incorporated in Europe.<sup>24</sup> Nevertheless, most companies in the study were UK, French or German, in whole or in part.

The first stage of this research involved listing companies traded on the UK FTSE 100, the French CAC 40 and the German DAX 30. Following this, each company was traced on the BHRRC website's 'Individual Companies' section, as well as through the Business and Human Rights Documentation (B-HRD) Project<sup>25</sup> search facility to identify relevant human rights related claims made in respect of the company. Having identified companies subject to concerns about adverse human rights risks and impacts, further internet searches were undertaken to clarify the potential scope of claims in this regard.<sup>26</sup> Emphasis was placed on capturing claims about risks and impacts raised since 2005. Finally, the OECD Watch database and OECD list of Statements by National Contact Points was consulted to identify cases brought under

#### **A Note on Allegations**

In determining the extent to which companies have been identified in conerns about adverse human rights impacts and risks this research is heavily reliant on media and civil society coverage of corporate activities. The inability to guarantee the legal or factual veracity of impacts means that many concerns highlighted in this study are often referred to as allegations – a term adopted for its neutrality in this regard. This is because there is currently no single forum for determining the veracity of charges that a company has had an adverse human rights impact. This is particularly so where the victims of such impacts are in countries where human rights and the rule of law are fragile, and where access to justice is challenging. Many of the allegations identified in this report have been strenuously denied by the companies concerned. Some may since have been addressed. Whilst the report has sought not to include allegations that have since clearly been been disproved or withdrawn, there may nevertheless be a risk that some such allegations are captured. It should be noted that the inclusion of an allegation in this report is not an adoption of the allegation itself but simply an identification that an allegation has been made.

In identifying concerns about adverse human rights risks and impacts, the methodology selected sources on the basis of credibility, subject matter and quality of analysis. It also sought to focus on allegations with a higher degree of specificity, rather than general reports implicating a whole sector.

This research aims solely to quantify cases where companies have been identified in human rights concerns. The parameters of this report and resource restrictions mean that it has not been possible to include all company responses to allegations or concerns raised in the report. Nevertheless, companies subject to allegations are often given an opportunity to comment either before a report/article is published or by the BHRRC. Readers are therefore encouraged to refer to the source documents, the BHRRC portal and to individual companies'own websites to ascertain company responses to concerns raised in the report and its annexes.

this complaints mechanism. Some limited identification of voluntary initiative membership was also undertaken.<sup>27</sup>

In identifying claims regarding risks and impacts this study has been guided by the nexus between human rights and CSR issues identified by the European Commission in its 2011 communication. That communication highlights that CSR covers, at least, human rights issues, labour/employment practices, environmental matters, and bribery and corruption.<sup>28</sup> It recognises social and environmental responsibility through supply chains and disclosure of non-financial information as cross cutting issues, referring to the need for good tax governance, including transparency and fair tax competition. Thus, whilst covering for example, direct references to human and labour rights risks and impacts, this study also canvases claims regarding corruption and unethical tax dealings, which are recognised as adversly affecting a State's ability to protect and fulfil rights. Moreover, as environmental impacts can have significant implications for human rights enjoyment,<sup>29</sup> whilst environmental issues were not the principle focus of this study, some allegations involving environmental risks and impacts were also included where recognised as having human rights relevance.

The findings of this research are briefly outlined in this report. A list of source documents identifying concerns about specific human rights risks and impacts (by company) is contained in three country annexes to this report. The annexes provide a brief summary of the nature of the concerns raised and also a link to an original document referring to these concerns.

#### Principle limitations of this study

*Under inclusion* – This report in no way provides comprehensive coverage of all concerns or allegations made regarding listed companies. Aside from resource constraints, limitations in doing so include: (a) a heavy bias towards English language media by the research team; (b) searches were undertaken under the name by which companies are listed and therefore failed to capture most concerns or allegations relating to subsidiaries; (c) many allegations may never reach Western media because of either linguistic or geographical isolation, lack of media interest or presence, or lack of state tolerance towards dissent; and (d) limited resources mean that NGOs and journalists have a tendency to focus more on 'big name' companies than lesser known entities in investigations and reports.

*Index changes* – Index changes since this research originally began mean that whilst the research focused primarily on companies listed on the relevant indexes in the second quarter of 2013, some companies formerly ranking on these indexes were also covered by the research whilst some currently listed companies were not. This is accounted for in presenting the findings.

*Country coverage* – The quantity of companies and proportion of index constituents identified in this study cannot be used to draw national comparisons. This is principally because the three indexes studied varied greatly in the nature and quantity of their constituents. Many more UK listed companies were studied than French or German, and NGO reports tend to focus on the largest companies.

*Positive human rights impacts* – It is axiomatic that in focusing only on adverse human rights risks and impacts, this study does not cover the positive human rights impacts of companies. It cannot therefore be taken as providing the full picture of the human rights position of any of the companies identified. Indeed, there are companies who seek to meaningfully engage with their human rights responsibilities and can make strong and positive human rights contributions.

Accuracy - This study has sought not to include allegations that have been disproved or withdrawn subsequent to their being made. However, due to the wide temporal scope of the study, resource constraints, a delay between the research and publication, and difficulties in accessing such information, it is important to be aware of the risk that some such allegations may have been captured.

## Concerns about Adverse Human Rights Risks and Impacts of European Companies



The EU is a major world trading power. Whilst its 28 Member States comprise only 7% of the world's population, the EU's trade with the rest of the world accounts for 20% of global exports and imports. Since 2007 the EU's economy has been the largest in the world, followed by the United States (2<sup>nd</sup>) and China (3<sup>rd</sup>).<sup>30</sup>

The EU is also home to many powerful transnational corporations: a quarter of the 100 largest listed companies in the world are based in EU Member States.<sup>31</sup> The UK is a home state for some of the largest corporate players with 11 of the world's biggest 100 companies, and 37 of its biggest 500 companies domiciled there. It is followed by France (5 and 24, respectively) and Germany (7 and 19, respectively).<sup>32</sup>

What follows will provide some background to each index studied and an outline of findings in respect of each index.

#### United Kingdom

The United Kingdom has been a European Union member since 1973. It is the third largest economic power in Europe, after Germany and France, and ranks sixth globally. Services, particularly banking and insurance, account for by far the largest proportion of its GDP, whilst oil and gas production and the pharmaceutical industry also make major contributions to the UK economy. Six of the 100 largest companies in the world by revenue are UK domiciled.<sup>33</sup> Royal Dutch Shell and BP render the UK home to two of the ten most profitable companies in the world.

#### The FTSE 100

The UK's FTSE 100 Index represents the performance of the 100 biggest blue chip companies listed on the London Stock Exchange. All FTSE 100 companies must be designated UK nationals under the Ground Rules for the FTSE UK Index Series,<sup>34</sup> as well as meeting other criteria. Companies not incorporated in the UK can nevertheless be assigned UK nationality provided they publicly acknowledge adherence to the principles of the UK Corporate Governance Code, pre-emption rights and the UK Takeover Code "as far as practicable".<sup>35</sup>

The size and scale of FTSE 100 company operations make them an integral part of most stock market portfolios in offering stable investments that can weather stock market fluctuations whist continuing to generate profit. The last few years have seen the FTSE 100 become increasingly concentrated, with three index sectors alone (consumer goods, oil and gas, and finance) making up half of the total index by market value.<sup>36</sup> Royal Dutch Shell and BP ranked second and sixth respectively in Fortune magazine's 2014 Global 500 list (measured by revenue).<sup>37</sup>

In response to the UN Guiding Principles, the UK government launched an action plan for business and human rights in September 2013.<sup>38</sup> This was accompanied by amendments to the UK's Companies Act requiring large companies to report non-financial information, including disclosures on human rights

where such information is necessary for an understanding of the business.

#### **Presentation of data**

Table A presents the number of FTSE 100 companies identified by the research in claims about adverse human rights risks or impacts. Table A outlines these figures as a proportion of 84 companies listed on the index as at 1 October 2014. Due to changes in rankings since this study began fifteen companies currently on the index were not covered by the research.<sup>39</sup> Moreover, allegations or concerns about human rights risks and impacts were identified for ten other companies formerly listed on the index. Nine of these have since ceased to qualify for the FTSE 100<sup>40</sup> and one other merged with another FTSE 100 company in May 2013.<sup>41</sup> These identifications have not been included in Table A.

For all tables in this report, the categorisation of companies into sectors is simply to illustrate the types of activity in which these companies are involved for the purposes of this study. It does not reflect any official grouping. Some companies may operate in more than one sector (for example, in both the oil and gas and the utilities sector). Here, companies are categorised by their principle activity. It is essential to note that the data presented in tables A to C cannot speak to the severity of risks and impacts within or between sectors, which varies. Nor can it be treated as indicative of efforts undertaken to avoid risks and impacts in any given sector. Some elaboration on the types of risks and impacts identified by sector is provided in the following section.

Sector	No. companies in sector	No. companies identified
Mining, Oil & Gas	12	11
Utilities	5	2
Finance & Investment	15	9
Construction & Engineering	7	1
Consumer Goods <sup>42</sup>	15	12
Chemicals & Pharmaceutical	4	3
Aerospace, Defence & Security	3	3
Other	23	2
TOTAL	84	43

#### Table A: FTSE 100 companies identified in concerns about adverse human rights risks and impacts



#### France

France has the fifth largest economy in the world, ranking second in Europe, after Germany. Its economy is diversified across all sectors and the government has wholly or partially privatised many large companies. Twenty-six of the world's largest 500 companies are French and French companies have a particularly strong presence in the power, public transport and defence industries. France's biggest companies include Sanofi, Total, L'Oreal, LVMH, BNP Paribas, and EDF, all of whom are prominent in their respective fields.<sup>43</sup> France also derives a notable income from tourism.<sup>44</sup>

#### The CAC 40

The CAC 40 reflects the performance of the shares of the 40 largest and most traded companies listed on the Euronext stock exchange in Paris. It is a benchmark index for portfolio management for funds investing in the French stock market. Although the CAC 40 is almost exclusively composed of French domiciled companies, the multinational reach of these companies, which are said to conduct over two thirds of their business and employ over two thirds of their workers abroad,<sup>45</sup> is said to make the CAC 40 the most popular European exchange for foreign investors, who own around 45% of its listed shares.<sup>46</sup> CAC 40 companies, Axa, BNP Paribas, Société Générale, GDF Suez and Total ranked in the top 50 of Fortune magazine's 2014 Global 500 list (by revenue).<sup>47</sup>

The CAC 40 has an ethics code that applies to companies on the exchange. Moreover, the *Authorité des Marchés Financiers* has published recommendations for directors to prevent insider misconduct by executives.<sup>48</sup> Research conducted by Deloitte in 2011 found that of the 40 companies listed on the CAC 40 at that time, 38 undertook to respect human rights in their external communications, either making reference to one of the principle human rights instruments applicable to business at that time, or to sector-specific initiatives such as the Kimberly Process or the Equator Principles. However, only 22 companies at that time had formalized that undertaking through a charter or code of conduct and only 7 exhibited signs of a structured approach dedicated to ensuring respect for human rights.<sup>49</sup>

#### **Presentation of data**

Table B presents the number of companies identified by the research in claims about adverse human rights risks or impacts. The figures are again provided as a comparison of the total companies operating in a given sector and covered by the research. Three companies currently listed on the index were not covered by the research.<sup>50</sup>

Sector	No. companies in sector	No. companies identified
Steel, Oil & Gas	3	3
Utilities	3	3
Finance & Investment	4	4
Construction & Engineering	5	5
Consumer Goods⁵1	5	2
Chemical & Pharmaceutical	3	1
Aerospace, Defence & Security	2	2
Automobile	2	2
Other	10	2
TOTAL	37	24

#### Table B: CAC 40 companies identified in concerns about adverse human rights risks and impacts



#### Germany

Germany is the largest national economy in Europe and the fifth largest in the world. It is also the world's fourth largest exporter.<sup>52</sup> Germany is the leading exporter of machinery, vehicles, chemicals and household equipment. Seven of the world's largest 100 companies and ten of the 100 most profitable in 2014 were German.<sup>53</sup> The automotive industry is the largest industry sector in Germany, generating around 20% of the country's total industry revenue in 2011, with key manufacturers including Volkswagen, Daimler and BMW. Other world renowned German brands include Siemens, Bayer, BASF, and Adidas.

#### The DAX 30

Germany's DAX 30 is a blue chip stock market index composed of the 30 major German companies trading on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange. The index is open to companies with juristic headquarters in Germany or companies with operating headquarters in Germany with a major share of their stock exchange turnover at the Frankfurt Stock Exchange and juristic headquarters in the European Union or a state of the European Free Trade Association.<sup>54</sup> Amongst other things, DAX listed companies must be listed on the Prime Standard Segment, which entails compliance with high transparency standards.<sup>55</sup> They must also make a declaration of compliance with the German Corporate Governance Code, on a 'comply or explain' basis.<sup>56</sup> The 30 stocks that compose the DAX are said to represent around 80% of the market capitalization listed in Germany. The companies listed on the DAX are also increasingly important to the global economy. DAX 30 companies, Allianz, Daimler, E.ON and Volkswagen ranked in the top 50 of Fortune magazine's 2014 Global 500 list.<sup>57</sup> In 2011 an Ernst & Young study indicated that 75% of sales for 28 of the 30 DAX listed companies at that time came from outside Germany, with international sales said to account for 95% of Adidas' total, and 91% of Linde's.<sup>58</sup>

#### Presentation of data

Table C presents the number of companies identified by the research in claims about adverse human rights risks or impacts in a given sector. All presently listed companies were covered by the research.

#### Table C: DAX 30 companies identified in concerns about adverse human rights risks and impacts

Sector	No. companies in sector	No. companies identified
Utilities	2	2
Finance & Investment	5	4
Construction	1	1
Consumer Goods <sup>59</sup>	3	1
Chemical & Pharmaceutical	9	7
Automobile	4	4
Other	6	4
TOTAL	30	23

# Sector specific features of adverse human rights risks and impacts

This section will briefly outline some prevalent features of concerns raised regarding the adverse human rights risks and impacts of major FTSE 100, CAC 40 and DAX 30 companies (including some companies formerly listed on these exchanges). These are addressed within the context of eight broad sectors and some non-exhaustive examples are provided. The features highlighted herein reflect the specific concerns identified in respect of the companies studied in this research, sources for which can be found in the annexes A to C.

#### **Natural Resource Sector**

This sector encompasses companies operating predominantly in the oil and gas, energy, mining and steel production industries. Companies in this sector, particularly those engaged in extractive operations, appeared not only to be implicated in the largest number of adverse human rights risks and impacts, but also the most severe.

In the extractives sector, concerns about adverse human rights risks and impacts were often associated with environmental impacts and security arrangements in developing host States. Allegations ranged from complicity in war crimes, fuelling conflict and causing widespread and severe environmental damage, to corruption, aggressive tax practices, and the violation of labour standards regarding living wages and health and safety at work. Notable features of concerns included the following:

Concerns about and allegations of fuelling conflict or severe human rights abuse through security arrangements protecting or facilitating operations.

#### Examples

Both Rio Tinto and Shell have famously been subject to allegations of complicity in crimes against humanity (and for Rio Tinto war crimes and genocide) regarding severe human rights abuses perpetrated by security forces against communities affected by their operations in Papua New Guinea and Nigeria in the 1980s and 1990s, respectively. Concerns about the role of their activities in social conflicts in Indonesia (Rio Tinto/Freeport McMoRan joint-venture Grasberg Mine) and Nigeria (Shell) have also been expressed since 2007.<sup>60</sup>

In 2009, Total was the subject of claims regarding risks and impacts concerning serious human rights abuses committed by Burmese security forces contracted to protect its operations in Burma, including forced labour, torture, extra-judicial killings and rape.<sup>61</sup>

In 2011, Essar Energy was allegedly implicated in funding armed groups in the Chhattisgarh region of India, including claims that the group played such groups off against each other to secure protection for its operations.<sup>62</sup>

Lonmin's human rights due diligence in its dealings with South African security forces have been questioned after the shooting of dozens of miners during a strike at its operations in mid-2012.<sup>63</sup>

Existing conflict and militarisation around Xstrata's Tampakan mine in the Phillipines has also seen concerns raised about adverse human rights impacts with claims that the project has observably contributed to the polarisation of communities, fuelling conflict potential and the use of violence.<sup>65</sup>

Concerns and allegations regarding environmental damage having adverse human rights impacts, particularly on health and livelihoods.

#### Examples

The scope of companies and countries identified as engaging these risks is broad. Alleged impacts can include harm to health and livelihoods through air pollution, ground water and soil

contamination, and fish and cattle poisoning, as well as water depletion, deforestation and mining induced flooding that affects local communities. This can be the result of industrial processes, tailings storage, spills, and, more generally, inadequate environmental precaution or clear up.

Companies identified in claims about such risks and impacts include Anglo American in Colombia, Zimbabwe, Ghana and South Africa;<sup>66</sup> Antofagasta's Los Pelambres mine in Chile;<sup>67</sup> Arcelormittal in Bosnia, South Africa and the US;<sup>68</sup> BG Group's involvement in the Karachaganak consortium in Kazakhstan;<sup>69</sup> BHP Billiton in Kalimantan, Colombia, Papua New Guinea, South Africa and Peru;<sup>70</sup> BP's involvement in the OCENSA pipeline in Columbia, contamination from the Deep Water Horizon spill and gas flaring in the US;<sup>71</sup> Glencore in the DRC and Zambia;<sup>72</sup> Rio Tinto in Papua New Guinea, the US and Namibia;<sup>73</sup> Vedanta in India;<sup>74</sup> Shell in Nigeria, Russia, Argentina and the Philippines;<sup>75</sup> Total in Nigeria;<sup>76</sup> and Xstrata (now Glencore) in Peru and Australia.<sup>77</sup>

Allegations of failure to provide information concerning impacts of operations, particularly their impact on the environment and harm to health, water and food.

#### Examples

Allegations regarding failures, and in some cases refusals, to disclose information about spills or environmental contamination have been directed at Shell in Nigeria, BHP Billiton in Australia and Peru, and ArcelorMittal at facilities in South Africa, Ukraine and Kazakhstan. Failures to provide such information can leave communities uncertain about the levels of risk to which they are exposed and whether remediation is adequate.

Concerns and allegations regarding adverse impacts on indigenous people's rights, including dispossession of lands or impacts on livelihoods.

#### Examples

Mongolian herder households allege that the environmental impacts of Rio Tinto's Ok Tedi mine is destroying their traditional lifestyle and causing herd losses, whilst concerns have been raised about conflict with indigenous groups at Xstrata's Tampakan Project in the Philippines.<sup>78</sup> Moreover, GDF Suez's involvement with Brazil's Jirau hydro-electric dam has seen it associated with alleged violations of indigenous peoples' rights to free, prior and informed consent,<sup>79</sup> whilst in India Vedanta stands accused of threatening the survival of the DongriaKongh tribe with its plans for mining and refinery expansion, occasioning forced evictions and resettlements, amongst other things.<sup>80</sup>

Concerns and allegations regarding direct and indirect involvement in corruption.

#### Examples

Concerns about corruption have been raised in respect of dealings on the part of ENRC in the DRC<sup>81</sup> and Kazakhyms in Kazakhstan.<sup>82</sup> Technip personnel have been convicted for engaging in bribery in Nigeria,<sup>83</sup> and Total and its personnel have found themselves the subject of investigations concerning alleged corrpt practices in Iran, Iraq and Italy.<sup>84</sup> Total is also alleged to have contributed to high level corruption by operating in pre-reform Burma, and ArcelorMittal has seen questions raised about its role regarding the mismanagement of its Social Development Fund in Liberia, as well as claims that its donation of 100 trucks to the country may have breached the combatting bribery provisions of the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises.<sup>85</sup>

Concerns about or allegations regarding the negotiation of legal frameworks that undermine human rights, including reduced environmental protections or exploitative tax and production sharing agreements.

#### Examples

BG Group in Kazakhstan, BHP Billiton in Australia, Borneo and South Africa, and ArcelorMittal in Orissa, India, are among companies accused of lobbying for reduced environmental protections. Meanwhile, concerns have been expressed about the terms of Total's production sharing arrangements with Madagascar, which in 2010 was reported to see the country recieve only 4%

of oil revenues.<sup>86</sup> The negotiation of stabilization clauses has been particularly criticized for their impact in locking developing countries with poor environmental and human rights protections into such protections. Tullow is one of many companies that has come under scrutiny in this regard, for example, in relation to its negotiations with Ghana, the DRC and Uganda.<sup>87</sup>

Concerns and allegations regarding labour rights issues, particularly concerning health and safety.

#### Examples

Cerrejon coal mine in Colombia has implicated Anglo American, BHP Billiton and Xstrata (now part of Glencore) in allegations regarding poor health and safety conditions affecting miners' health. Evraz in Russia, Glencore in the DRC and Zambia and ArcelorMittal in Kazakhstan and Romania have also been subject to complaints regarding safe working conditions and labour rights.<sup>88</sup>

#### Finance

The finance sector has been taken to include companies engaged in insurance, investment, banking, finance, and fund management. The types of allegations in which companies in this sector were identified were less direct than the natural resource sector but were also amongst the most broad and serious, often because they related to the provision of funding or services to companies engaged in activities said to occasion a broad range of harms. Thus, for example, despite their membership of the Equator Principles, a number of banks were among institutions claimed to support (fund or provide services to) projects or companies alleged to occasion significant environmental damage, interfere with indigenous people's rights, undermine weapons prohibitions, or work with oppressive regimes.

#### Examples

Concerns or allegations regarding support to companies or projects said to be extremely environmentally damaging have been directed at financial engagment with projects involving tar sands extraction (RBS), largescale deforestation (Barclays, HSBC, RBS, Standard Chartered) or other widespread environmental damage (Axa, Deutsche Bank, Societe Generale, BNP Paribas and Credit Agricole).<sup>89</sup>

Concerns or allegations regarding support to companies said to violate indigenous people's rights have been directed at Prudential investment in Vedanta, RBS funding of Vedanta and Canadian tar sands extraction, BNP Paribas involvement in the Nam Theun dam, Societe General funding of the Camisea natural Gas Project, NamTheun, Vedanta and Sakhalin 2; Credit Agricole financing for Nam Theun 2, and Axa financing of Vedanta.<sup>90</sup>

Allegations regarding investment in or the provision of financial services to activities undermining weapons prohibitions have included a 2012 report alleging the provision of financial services to companies involved in cluster munitions production on the part of Barclays, Royal Bank of Scotland, Prudential, Axa, BNP Paribas, Allianz, Commerzbank and Deutsche Bank.<sup>91</sup>

Concerns or allegations regarding investments in companies working with oppressive regimes have encompassed claims in respect of Old Mutual's investment in diamond mining in Zimbabwe, Axa funding of Total (operating in pre-reform Burma), BNP Paribas' stake in PetroChina and Lundin Petroleum (operating in Sudan); and Credit Agricole financing for Sinope (then accused of collaborating with the pre-reform Burmese regime).<sup>92</sup>

Concerns and allegations regarding investments in companies accused of land grabbing have also been raised.<sup>93</sup>

Concerns or allegations regarding support for authoritarian and oppressive States have formerly been directed at Lloyds' provision of loans to the Argentinean Junta in the 1980s, and the purchase of Belarusian and Zimbabwean bonds by RBS and Barclays respectively.<sup>94</sup>

Another notable feature of human rights related concerns regarding the actions of financial institutions are concerns about the role of financial activities in corruption. The intimate connection between corruption and human rights has been emphasised by both the UN and civil society organisations.<sup>95</sup> Financial institutions have been both directly and indirectly implicated in corruption.

#### Examples

Since 2009, five UK FTSE listed banks have been implicated in money laundering scandals in the US resulting in record fines of US\$1.9 billion, US\$298 million, US\$350 million, US\$340 million and US\$100 million for HSBC, Barclays, Lloyds, Standard Chartered and RBS, respectively.<sup>96</sup> HSBC, Barclays, Lloyds and Standard Chartered are claimed to have engaged in deliberate wire stripping, with HSBC accused of actively circumventing US safeguards and thereby facilitating money transfer by drugs cartels, terrorist groups and rogue regimes.

Banks have also been accused of facilitating corruption by failing to conduct adequate due diligence in respect of politically exposed persons. For example, HSBC, Barclays and RBS are alleged to have facilitated corruption in Nigeria by seemingly failing to conduct proper due diligence into the beneficial ownership of accounts of high profile Nigerian officials, despite indications of serious corruption risk.<sup>97</sup> Concerns have been raised about the reliance of Barclays and HSBC on banking secrecy laws and the potential for such laws to frustrate investigations into corruption and impede internal due diligence.<sup>98</sup> Deutsche Bank has also been identified in concerns about corruption in Turkmenistan for acting as a banker to the Turkmen government, whilst Commerzbank has been the subject of concerns about the risk of enabling corruption by providing loans to an opaque Angolan State-owned oil company.<sup>99</sup>

The impact of financial markets on human rights is felt globally, and where those impacts are detrimental the most vulnerable are invariably hit the hardest. Food speculation has been a particular subject of focus due to its potential for inflating global food prices. Moreover, the human rights links between financial market activities such as collateral debt obligations and other high-risk derivatives trading is also starting to attract attention.

#### **Examples**

Deutsche Bank has been the subject of criticism regarding its activities on the financial markets, particularly in the US, where it is said to have been one of the key traders in collateral debt obligations, a major driver of the housing credit bubble.<sup>100</sup> In addition to claims about its role in causing this bubble, Deutsche Bank is also alleged to have contributed to its collapse by betting against mortgages. It is also alleged to have engaged in unlawful evictions of those subsequently struggling to pay off their homes.

Companies identified in concerns about human rights risks associated with food speculation include HSBC, RBS, Lloyds, Societe Generale, Credite Agricole, BNP Paribas, Axa, Munich RE and Commerzbank, with Deutsche Bank, Allianz, and Barclays being most active in such commodities.<sup>101</sup>

#### Consumer

This sector has been taken to include companies operating in the following industries: food and beverage, retail, consumer goods, supermarkets and fashion/clothing. The human rights issue receiving the most attention in this sector is that of labour rights. A number of labour rights issues have been raised in the context of the operations of company subsidiaries as regards treatment of the companies own staff.<sup>102</sup> However, increasingly, concerns are being raised about the human rights risks and impacts of companies with regard to labour rights abuses that occur further down the supply chain for agricultural, manufactured and garment products. Here, labour rights violations can occur through suppliers, subcontractors or through other business relationships.

#### Examples

Labour rights violations such as poor health and safety conditions, a failure to pay living or at least minimum wages and interference with workers' ability to organise have been documented in numerous textiles suppliers in South East Asia and South America, including in India, Bangladesh, Sri Lanka, the Philippines, Indonesia, China, Thailand and El Salvador. Companies identified in concerns regarding such supply chain issues between 2006 and 2013 include Tesco, Next, Marks & Spencer, Carrefour, Associated British Foods (Primark), and Adidas.<sup>103</sup>

Labour rights supply chain issues are often identified as particularly affecting women workers. Thus, for example, discriminatory impacts have been highlighted in respect of the Sumangali scheme in India, flower picking in Kenya and Colombia, and fruit picking in South Africa.<sup>104</sup>

Other supply chain issues raised include concerns about the adverse human rights impacts of suppliers engaged in land grabbing and deforestation. Such issues have, for example, been raised in relation to suppliers of Tate & Lyle, Unilever and Adidas (Reebok).<sup>105</sup>

Being closer to consumers, this sector is one in which there appears to be some notable mobilisation at industry level to tackle supply chain issues, with numerous industry initiatives in this regard. Indeed, resolving such issues has proved to be challenging.<sup>106</sup> Nevertheless, concerns have also been expressed that many European companies in the consumer goods sector engage in activities that undermine the efforts of ethical trading programmes. Thus, for example, supermarkets have been accused of engaging in deleterious purchasing practices that transfer risks to workers in a bid to lower consumer costs.<sup>107</sup>

#### Other

**Construction:** This sector has been taken to include companies involved in the manufacture and supply of building materials, consultancy, and engineering. Prevalent features of concerns about adverse human rights impacts include concerns about these companies' engagement in projects that occasion widespread environmental and human rights impacts, such as large-scale infrastructural projects.<sup>108</sup> Concerns are also expressed about their engagement in projects that support oppressive regimes, which can be seen to implicate these companies in risks related to violations of international humanitarian and criminal law.<sup>109</sup> Corruption too was a feature of allegations regarding this sector.<sup>110</sup>

**Pharmaceutical:** Concerns expressed about pharmaceutical companies naturally related to their role and impact on the right to the highest attainable standard of health. Guidance on the role of pharmaceutical companies with regard to the right to health was issued by the UN Special Rapporteur on the Right to Health in the *Human Rights Guidelines for Pharmaceutical Companies in relation to Access to Medicines*.<sup>111</sup> Prevalent features of concerns about listed companies have related to the circumstances in which clinical trials are conducted, particularly where there are allegations of lack of consent;<sup>112</sup> the over aggressive promotion of drugs that risks undermining appropriate health care, including suppression of information;<sup>113</sup> and the inflation of drug pricing and seeking to prevent generics entering the market.<sup>114</sup>

**Security:** The security sector has been taken to include both companies engaged in the defence sector and companies engaged in security related outsourcing. Such security outsourcing is becoming increasingly prevalent in the public sector, where the adverse human rights impacts of poor service delivery by contractors may be seen to engage the international responsibility of the outsourcing State for violations of international human rights obligations.<sup>115</sup> Adverse human rights impacts have been highlighted in the outsourcing of juvenile and immigration detention services to UK contractors in the UK and Australia.<sup>116</sup> Moreover, where private security companies provide services in conflict areas they have also been linked to violations of international humanitarian law.<sup>117</sup> Concerns raised about companies more traditionally associated with the defence sector, like arms companies, include corruption<sup>118</sup> and the supply of arms or military equipment to oppressive/ human rights violating regimes.<sup>119</sup>

**Automobile:** Aside from environmental concerns, among the most prevalent features of allegations about adverse human rights risks and impacts in the automotive sector were labour rights issues<sup>120</sup> and supply chain issues concerning the sourcing of production materials such as metals and leather.<sup>121</sup>

**Information and Communications Technology:** Notable concerns regarding adverse human rights impacts relating to companies in this sector included corruption and a focus on ICT company operations in oppressive states where such technologies are used to stifle dissidence, including by identifying and locating political dissidents who are subsequently targeted for human rights abuses such as torture.<sup>122</sup> Thus, for example, whilst concerns have been expressed regarding France Telecom's involvement in helping the authoritarian Ethiopian government to implement general surveillance technology, Siemens has been heavily criticised for its provision and maintenance of surveillance equipment for Bahrain and Iran, where such equiptment is said to have been used to facilitate serious abuses against political opponents.<sup>123</sup>

## **Final observations**

In identifying human rights risks and impacts as they pertain to companies listed in the UK, France and Germany this study's findings confirm that the general trends identified by John Ruggie in his own analysis of corporate impacts worldwide are equally visible in concerns about the operations of European companies.<sup>124</sup> The range of human rights potentially affected by European companies is broad. Whilst risks and impacts can exhibit sector specific trends, this research highlights that many of the gravest risks and impacts occur outside Europe through sub-contractors, subsidiaries or business relationships. Here, some observations might be made about the application of due diligence, the use of voluntary initiatives, the disclosure of information on human rights impacts, and access to justice.

#### **Due diligence**

Just as Ruggie's own study provided a foundation for the development of the due diligence components of the UN Guiding Principles, this study supports the centrality of human rights due diligence to managing human rights risks and impacts. In particular, it reinforces the need for due diligence where companies operate in countries where human rights enjoyment remains a work in progress. In this regard, it underlines the Commission's appeal to large companies to carry out risk-based due diligence to "identify, prevent and mitigate their possible adverse impacts".<sup>125</sup>

Here, a word might be said about the scope of such due diligence over company operations. A number of the companies in this report form part of complex global supply chains. These supply chains are made up of different legal entities, often in diverse legal jurisdictions, with differing legal relationships with the company in question. Some may be subsidiaries, parent companies or members of the same corporate group, whilst others may simply have contractual business relations with the company. Human rights impacts can be affected through any of these relations. In stating that "[corporations'] responsibilities include due diligence to identify, prevent, mitigate, and account for how they address their adverse impacts on human rights",<sup>126</sup> Ruggie has highlighted that due diligence must be applied not only to the actual and potential impacts arising from a company's own activities but also to those arising from relationships with third parties. Here, "[i]n the case of multinational corporations the 'enterprise' is understood to include the entire corporate group, however it is structured. And business relationships are understood to include business partners, other entities in the enterprise's value chain, and any other non-state or state entity directly linked to its business."<sup>127</sup> The Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights has emphasised that such a management process needs to be on-going and undertaken in light of the operating circumstances of the company.<sup>128</sup>

The EU has a crucial role to play in ensuring that in undertaking due diligence to fulfil their human rights responsibilities, companies are able to do so with the benefit of a level playing field. Indeed, the European Commission has recognised the need, identified by Ruggie, for a smart mix of voluntary and regulatory measures to ensure corporate respect for human rights. Such a smart mix renders the first and second pillars of the UN Framework mutually reinforcing, providing it with a much needed cohesion. Given the centrality of due diligence to managing the numerous and sometimes severe human rights risks identified in this study, the need for regulatory tools to embed the concept and practice of due diligence into corporate activities seems compelling, particularly where those activities are international in scope. That mandatory due diligence provides an essential link between the state duty to protect (first pillar) and the corporate responsibility to respect (second pillar), is already recognised in a number of states. Research conducted in 2012 by experts in international law and policy has shown that states all over the globe already make use of due diligence regulations to ensure that businesses respect established standards.<sup>129</sup> The findings of that research indicate that states have applied due diligence approaches in areas of law that are either analogous to or directly relevant to human rights, such as labour rights, environmental protection, consumer protection and anti-corruption, with some having done so for some time already.

Moreover, due diligence further links the first and second pillars of the guiding principles to the, as yet little discussed, need to ensure victims of corporate harm access to effective remedies. Here, the

conduct of due diligence can provide a gauge for both the appropriateness of lifting the corporate veil between parent company and subsidiary (a key obstacle to justice for victims of corporate harm) and determination of the existence or degree of liability.

As stated above, this study indicates that the most egregious human rights risks and impacts relate to situations outside the EU, in countries where poverty and corruption pervade and adherence to the rule of law remains fragile. Where some companies can operate in disregard of their human rights impacts or exploit factors at the root of human rights vulnerability, the efforts made by those responsible entities seeking to engage with their human rights responsibilities are seriously undermined, as can be the efforts of agencies seeking to bring about conditions for sustainable development through good governance. The EU's democratic mandate for ensuring that companies operating in such contexts, or forming part of complex global supply chains, respect social and ethical standards has been affirmed by a sizable 87% of European citizenry. Requiring mandatory due diligence to ensure at least the identification and management of adverse risks forms an important part of ensuring such compliance. In further understanding the EU's role in this regard, reference might also be made to the Maastricht Principles on Extraterritorial Obligations of States in the area of Economic, Social and Cultural Rights. These principles flesh out the role of states in ensuring human rights enjoyment beyond their own borders, and have been promulgated by international law experts, including current and former UN Special Rapporteurs and members of international and regional human rights bodies, following over a decade of legal research.130

#### **Voluntary Initiatives**

The last decade has seen a proliferation of voluntary initiatives and codes of conduct for sustainability and human rights. This has been both a response to and stimulator of increased global awareness of corporate responsibility. However, it is also felt to have created what has been described as 'confusion, clutter and chaos' regarding corporate ethics, raising concerns about the effectiveness, motives, credibility and transparency of many initiatives.<sup>131</sup>

One of the leading voluntary initiatives addressing corporate human rights issues, amongst others, is the UN Global Compact. A brief canvass of UN Global Compact participation for each company identified in human rights-related concerns or allegations raised between 2005 and 2013, shows that of 43 current FTSE 100 companies identified, 22 are UN Global Compact members; of 24 CAC 40 companies 22 are members and of 23 DAX 30 companies, 19 are members.

Whilst voluntary standards can provide the flexibility required to meet the needs and circumstances of a plurality of parties, this study suggests that further independent empirical research is also needed to discern the true role of such voluntary initiatives (both positive and negative) in securing human rights compliance in real terms. For example, of the 11 current FTSE100 mining, oil and gas companies identified in allegations regarding adverse human rights impacts, eight are UN Global Compact participants. Of these, companies such as BP, Shell and Rio Tinto in respect of whom some of the most serious human rights allegations have been made over the last decade, joined in 2000. France's Total joined in 2002 and controversial miners, BHP Billiton and Xstrata (now Glencore) signed up in 2003 and 2006, respectively.

In the finance sector too, further clarification could be provided about the interpretation of voluntary initiatives such as the Equator Principles and the Principles for Responsible Investment. Of the four CAC 40 companies operating in the finance sector and identified in human rights concerns all but one were signed up to at least one investment related voluntary initiative. All but one of the UK's 9 FSTE100 finance related companies have also signed up to such an initiative. Despite this, a number of these institutions are alleged to be involved, to greater or lesser degrees, with companies or projects that are the subject of significant human rights controversy.

Failures to respond to concerns expressed by civil society about adverse human rights impacts effectively and transparently by reference to the detail of such standards risks undermining public confidence in these initiatives. Indeed, if these initiatives are to form an effective component of the EU's CSR agenda and tackle the issues currently being raised about corporate green/human rights wash then clarification about their impact on European companies may be required. This might include outlining the extent of their implementation on a general and project level, the interpretation of what such standards require in a given context in practice, internal systems for monitoring and the outcomes of such monitoring, in what conditions stakeholders are engaged, how challenges have been overcome and the extent to which such initiatives evolve to meet changing demand. Initiatives with a higher degree of specificity such as the UN Guiding Principles may be of greater utility in this regard.

#### Disclosure of information on human rights impacts

Several international standards call on companies to disclose information needed for stakeholders to understand business impacts on human rights and the environment.<sup>132</sup> The UN Guiding Principles highlight that:

"The responsibility to respect human rights requires that business enterprises have in place policies and processes through which they can both know and show that they respect human rights in practice. Showing involves communication, providing a measure of transparency and accountability to individuals or groups who may be impacted and to other relevant stakeholders, including investors."<sup>133</sup>

Users of such information include stakeholders such as "employees, local communities, special interest groups, governments and society at large",<sup>134</sup> as well as shareholders and the financial community. This is because such information is crucial not only to determining a company's level of risk and reputational standing, but also to providing some clarity/certainty to those affected by a company's activities, to aid other companies to conduct their own human rights due diligence enquiries and to help governments and society at large determine the health of the business sector's interaction with society.

This research touched upon the numerous difficulties faced by these stakeholders in trying to obtain concrete information on the human rights risks and impacts of European listed companies. Firstly, whilst the BHRRC acts as an invaluable portal for the collection of such data, a large number of allegations and concerns expressed about risks and impacts were not posted on the portal. Secondly, as, to date, civil society has played the principle role in identifying and monitoring corporate human rights risks and impacts, its limited resources have meant more of a focus on big name companies than less high profile companies. Thirdly, whilst the portal provides specific pages for updates on certain human rights controversies surrounding particular companies, in a number of cases it could prove difficult or impossible to discern outcomes or follow up regarding concrete human rights concerns raised. This created uncertainty over whether issues were on-going or historical and the extent to which companies were engaged in managing risks in the specific localities in which they had been identified. Indeed, whilst the BHRRC offers companies an oppertunity to respond to allegations or concerns raised, in numerous cases, companies do not do so or do not do so in detail.

Moreover, even where companies provide relatively extensive information on internal management strategies that help them to manage certain human rights-related issues, such reports do not address specific instances of human rights concerns raised. For example, whilst Bayer's Human Rights Position refers interested parties to its Sustainable Development Report for "detailed information about our commitment to commercially successful and at the same time responsible and sustainable corporate management", as well as "up-to-date information … on our activities to support human rights related concerns raised in respect of the company's operations. Moreover, research for this report suggested that there may be a potential disparity between how human rights risks and impacts are interpreted and identified by civil society groups and how they are identified as relevant by a given company.

Where no clear standards are imposed for human rights reporting, investors, shareholders, consumers, stakeholders and society will continue to be unclear about the prevailing human rights risks associated with a given company. This can breed cynicism and distrust of corporate communications in general, such as that evidenced in the recent Eurobarometer surveys referred to earlier in this report regarding the perception of corporate influence at home and abroad.<sup>136</sup> Indeed, the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises recognise that "[t]o improve public understanding of enterprises and their interaction with

society and the environment, enterprises should be transparent in their operations and responsive to the public's increasingly sophisticated demands for information."

Most significantly perhaps, the present research touched upon some extremely concerning allegations regarding the corporate management of information about human rights risks and impacts in specific instances. In a number of cases, these instances manifested serious potential harm for those affected.

#### Examples of concerns about corporate treatment of human rights-related information

Total is alleged to have made misleading and false statements about the human rights risks of its Burma operations;<sup>137</sup> Vedanta is alleged to have tried to interfere with OECD follow up reporting on human rights impacts in India;<sup>138</sup> Tesco and EDF have both been accused of raising strategic lawsuits against public participation;<sup>139</sup> GSK was alleged to have intimidated a doctor voicing concerns over the health risks posed by one of its drugs, whilst Imperial Tobacco has been accused of destroying documents concerning the health risks of smoking;<sup>140</sup> Shell, Vedanta, BHP Billiton and ArcelorMittal are among a number of resource companies accused of failing to disclose information regarding the environmental impacts of their operations;<sup>141</sup> and Rolls Royce is claimed to have denied its involvement in Sudan until pressed by an NGO investigation and media attention.<sup>142</sup>

Given the centrality of information provision to managing human rights risks and the significance of information to business interests, an approach to reporting that fails to set standards may well fail to guarantee interested parties an accurate picture of the risks or actual impacts that a company's operations involve. This may fail to adequately support effective human rights due diligence.

Indeed, the above findings indicate compelling grounds for the development of reporting standards to specify a criteria for determining "principle risks" as envisaged in the EU's new non-financial reporting provisions, as well as the explicit inclusion of ongoing incidents and impacts in reporting, and clarification of what is to be deemed "relevant and proportionate" for the purposes of supply chain disclosures. The findings also indicate that there may well be a need for the imposition of more rigorous auditing requirements, such as independent assurance, in the implementation of the non-financial reporting directive by Member States. Moreover, given the fact that for some enterprises greater openness and transparency would require a big cultural shift, the implementation, monitoring and enforcement of the new directive by Member States may need to ensure that the directive's "safe harbor clause" – whereby companies may exceptionally hold back information relating to impending developments or matters in the course of negotiation that would be seriously prejudicial to commercial interests – is tightly circumscribed to prevent abuse.

#### **Access to Remedies**

The EU has not yet tabled activities that engage with access to remedies for victims of human rights harms occasioned by corporate activity. In 2013 a legal study was developed by a team of experts to identify the principle obstacles to remedies and provide recommendations for legal and policy reforms. This study was released in December 2013.<sup>143</sup> The present study highlights that the most severe human rights impacts are often experienced outside the EU by individuals and communities in countries where remedies may be difficult to obtain. This raises questions about the role of the EU and its Member States in aiding victims to access remedies where harms are occasioned by powerful European companies, whose revenue might exceed the GDP of some of the countries in which they operate. Indeed, access to remedies (third pillar) is an integral part of the UN Respect, Protect, Remedy Framework and ensuring the efficacy of this framework will require its implementation. It may also require greater recognition of the role of European states in ensuring access to remedies for those harmed by the actions of companies incorporated within their territory and operating in contexts where the rule of law and institutions are weak.

## **Concluding Remarks**

In 2011, EC Vice-President Tajani expressed optimism about the road ahead, stating in response to the endorsement of the UN Guiding Principles that "many European enterprises are world leaders when it comes to human rights".<sup>144</sup> At that time, this claim was accompanied by the assertion that of companies listed as having explicit reference to human rights in their corporate policies on the Business and Human Rights Resource Centre website, half were European.<sup>145</sup> In finding that over half of those companies listed on major UK, German and French indexes have been associated with concerns about adverse human rights risks and impacts since 2005, this study indicates the need for caution in making such claims. Indeed, some claims regarding adverse human rights impacts identified in this research indicate that claiming adherence to voluntary standards and expressing human rights in practice. Just as the last 60 years has seen various States ratify human rights treaties whilst exhibiting little political will to implement them, companies can likewise be quick to assert their commitment to human rights, yet resist civil society and political bodies' attempts to establish monitoring and implementation systems to secure their actualisation.

The process for renewing the EU's Corporate Social Responsibility strategy has already begun. This represents an oppertunity for reflection. Having identified some of the more specific human rights concerns and allegations pertaining to companies listed in three of Europe's major powers it is hoped that this study might contribute to informed discussion on the appropriate regulation of business and human rights at the European level. Indeed, as outlined in the methodology of this report the risks and impacts referred to herein represent only a snapshot of the most readily accessible concerns and allegations regarding such and impacts raised in respect of the few companies canvassed – many of whom receive particular civil society attention in respect of human rights issues. As such, the concerns presented here may represent only a glimpse of the true landscape of adverse human rights risks and impacts.

## Endnotes

- <sup>1</sup> European Commission, "Business and human rights: new United Nations guidelines", 17 June 2011, available at: http:// ec.europa.eu/enterprise/newsroom/cf/itemdetail.cfm?item\_id=5220; cf. Human Rights Watch, 'UN Human Rights Council: Weak Stance on Business Standards', press release, 16 June 2011. Available at http://www.hrw.org/node/99908.
- <sup>2</sup> Lisbon European Council 23 and 24 March 2000, Presidency Conclusions, available at http://www.europarl.europa.eu/ summits/lis1\_en.htm.
- <sup>3</sup> European Commission, *Promoting a European framework for Corporate Social Responsibility, Green paper, COM(2001) 366 final,* 18 July 2001, at para.20. Available at http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/site/en/com/2001/com2001\_0366en01.pdf.
- <sup>4</sup> European Commission, A renewed EU strategy 2011-14 for Corporate Social Responsibility, Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions, COM(2011) 681 final, 25 October 2011, para.3.1 (emphasis added). Available at http://ec.europa.eu/enterprise/policies/sustainable-business/files/csr/new-csr/act\_en.pdf.
- <sup>5</sup> DG enterprise presentation to the coordination committee of the multi-stakeholder forum on CSR, 19th May 2011, as cited by the European Coalition for Corporate Justice, 'CSR communication. Going beyond words: time to act' p.2, available at: http://www.corporatejustice.org/IMG/pdf/eccj\_position\_paper\_on\_csr.pdf
- <sup>6</sup> CSR reports published by the European Commission are available from the Directorate-General Enterprise and Industry, 'Sustainable and responsible business: Business and human rights' page at:http://ec.europa.eu/enterprise/policies/ sustainable-business/corporate-social-responsibility/human-rights/index\_en.htm.
- <sup>7</sup> Daniel Augustein, Study of the Legal Framework on Human Rights and the Environment applicable to European Enterprises Operating Outside the European Union, University of Edinburgh, See: http://ec.europa.eu/enterprise/policies/sustainablebusiness/files/business-human-rights/101025\_ec\_study\_final\_report\_en.pdf
- <sup>8</sup> European Commission. 'Business and human rights: New United Nations guidelines', 17 June 2011, available at: Http:// ec.europa.eu/enterprise/newsroom/cf/itemlongdetail.cfm?item\_id=5220&lang=en&tpa=0&displayType=news&ref=newsb ytheme%2Ecfm%3Flang%3Den%26displayType%3Dnews%26fosubtype%3D%26tpa%3D0%26period%3Dlatest%26mon th%3D%26page%3D4
- <sup>9</sup> European Commission, A renewed EU strategy 2011-14 for Corporate Social Responsibility, n.8, section 4.8, para.D, p.14.
- <sup>10</sup> Ibid, pp. 8-15
- <sup>11</sup> Report on the application of Directive 2005/29/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 11 May 2005 concerning unfair business-to-consumer commercial practices in the internal market and amending the Unfair Commercial Practices Directive, Report from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council and the European Economic and Social Committee, 14 March 2013, COM(2013) 139 final. Available at: http://ec.europa.eu/justice/consumer-marketing/files/ ucpd\_report\_en.pdf.
- <sup>12</sup> How Companies Influence Our Society: Citizens' View, Flash Eurobarometer 363, April 2013, p.6. Survey results are attainable from http://ec.europa.eu/public\_opinion/archives/flash\_arch\_374\_361\_en.htm. An average of 52% of those surveyed throughout Europe felt that the overall influence of companies on society in their own countries was positive. UK, French and German citizens believing that companies have a positive overall influence on their societies constituted 54%, 50% and 54% of participants respectively. The remaining survey subjects stated that they did not know.
- <sup>13</sup> Ibid, p.7
- <sup>14</sup> Solidarity that Spans the Globe: Europeans and Development Aid, Special Eurobarometer 392, October 2012, p.6.
- <sup>15</sup> "Oil, gas, mineral and logging firms obliged to disclose payments to governments" European Parliament Press Release, 12 June 2013, available at: http://www.europarl.europa.eu/news/en/news-room/content/20130607IPR11387/html/Oil-gasmineral-and-logging-firms-obliged-to-disclose-payments-to-governments.
- <sup>16</sup> See, for example, 'Oxfam-Eurodad reaction to EU deal on transparency of extractives industries', 10 April 2013, Oxfam International, available at: http://www.oxfam.org/en/eu/pressroom/reactions/oxfam-eurodad-reaction-eu-dealtransparency-extractives-industries
- <sup>17</sup> See legislative resolution and position of the European Parliament of 15 April 2014, available at: http://www.europarl. europa.eu/sides/getDoc.do?pubRef=-//EP//TEXT+TA+P7-TA-2014-0368+0+DOC+XML+V0//EN&language=EN#BKMD-69. See also "Improving corporate governance: Europe's largest companies will have to be more transparent about how they operate" European Parliament Press Release, 15 April 2014, available at: http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release\_ STATEMENT-14-124\_en.htm.

- <sup>19</sup> "EU directive on the disclosure of non-financial information by certain large companies", European Coalition for Corporate Justice, April 2014, available at: http://www.corporatejustice.org/IMG/pdf/nfr\_briefing.pdf. See, also criticisms regarding the scope of the original Commission proposal: *Refusing to be accountable, 17 April 2013, Corporate Europe Observatory, available at:* http://corporateeurope.org/printpdf/1406.
- <sup>20</sup> For copies of the guidelines and an outline of the background to their promulgation visit the Directorate General for Enterprise and Industry's 'Business and Human Rights' section of the European Commission website: http://ec.europa.eu/ enterprise/policies/sustainable-business/corporate-social-responsibility/human-rights/index\_en.htmhttp://www.ihrb.org/ project/eu-sector-guidance/index.html.
- <sup>21</sup> Business & Human Rights Resource Centre a brief description, available at: http://www.business-humanrights.org/ Aboutus/Briefdescription
- <sup>22</sup> ESCR-Net, Collective Report on Business and Human Rights.Submission to the 8th Session of the United Nations Human Rights Council, June 2008, available at: http://business-humanrights.org/en/escr-net-collective-report-on-business-and-humanrights-2008-0#c28542.

<sup>18</sup> Ibid.

23 Ibid, p.6

- <sup>24</sup> Proposal for a Directive of the European Parliament and of the Council amending Council Directives 78/660/EEC and 83/349/EEC as regards disclosure of non-financial and diversity information by certain large companies and groups, p.6. In the UK, recent criticisms of foreign-based companies listing in London, prompted former director-general of the CBI, Sir Richard Lambert, to remark: "It never occurred to those of us who helped to launch the FTSE 100 index 27 years ago that one day it would be providing a cloak of respectability for companies to challenge the canons of corporate governance." See "Mining: The darker side of the London market", The Independent, 17 October 2012, available at: http://www.independent. co.uk/news/business/analysis-and-features/mining-the-darker-side-of-the-london-market-8213987.html.
- <sup>25</sup> A collaborative project between ESCR-Net and the Center for Human Rights and Global Justice of New York University School of Law.
- <sup>26</sup> Sector, region or issue specific NGO sites were canvassed such as those belonging to the London Mining Network, Mine and Communities, Platform, Labour Behind the Label, War on Want, Action Aid, Amnesty International, Human Rights Watch, Oxfam International, Greenpeace International, Friends of the Earth, Sherpa, SOMO etc.
- <sup>27</sup> Due to time constraints the only voluntary initiatives canvassed were: the UN Global Compact, the Equator Principles, the Principles for Responsible Investment and the Ethical Trading Initiative.
- <sup>28</sup> A renewed EU strategy 2011-14 for Corporate Social Responsibility, n.8, section 3.3.
- <sup>29</sup> See for example UN Human Rights Council resolution 16/1, Human Rights and the Environment, 12 April 2011, available at: http://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrcouncil/docs/16session/A.HRC.RES.16.11\_en.pdf; and UN Human Rights Council resolution 10/4, Human Rights and Climate Change, 25 March 2009, available at: http://ap.ohchr.org/documents/E/HRC/ resolutions/A\_HRC\_RES\_10\_4.pdf.
- <sup>30</sup> "The economy", Europa.eu, available at: http://europa.eu/about-eu/facts-figures/economy/.
- <sup>31</sup> Financial Times Global 500 as at October 2014, available from: http://www.ft.com/intl/cms/s/0/988051be-fdee-11e3-bd0e-00144feab7de.html#axzz3EzgKQNou.

<sup>32</sup> Ibid.

- <sup>33</sup> Fortune Global 500, available at: http://fortune.com/global500/gdf-suez-44/.
- <sup>34</sup> See section 4.4.1, Ground Rules for the FTSE UK Index Series, version 12, 1 September 2014, available at: http://www.ftse. com/products/downloads/FTSE\_UK\_Index\_Series.pdf. A number of companies on the index are dual nationals. This is particularly the case for companies from the natural resource sector (including both mining and oil and gas).

<sup>35</sup> Ibid, paragraph 4.4.3.

- <sup>36</sup> Richard Hunter, 'The changing face of the FTSE', 5 January 2012, Hargreaves Lansdown, available at: http://www.hl.co.uk/ shares/share-tips/richard-hunter-weekly-comment/richard-hunter-weekly-comments-archive/the-changing-face-of-theftse-100; Ben Brettle 'The changing face of the FTSE 100', 13 May 2014, Hargreaves Lansdown, available at: http://www.hl.co. uk/news/articles/the-changing-face-of-the-ftse-100.
- <sup>37</sup> Fortune Global 500, available at: http://fortune.com/global500/gdf-suez-44/.
- <sup>38</sup> "UK first to launch action plan on business and human rights", UK Foreign & Commonwealth Office (press release), 4 September 2013, available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/news/uk-first-to-launch-action-plan-on-business-andhuman-rights.
- <sup>39</sup> 3i, Ashtead Group, Capita, Coca-Cola Hellenic, Direct Line, Dixons Carphone, easyjet, London Stock Exchange Group, Mondi, Persimmon, Royal mail, Sports Direct, St James's Place, Travis Perkins and TUI Travel. Royal Dutch Shell has two listings on the exchange though is counted as a single entity for the purposes of this report.
- <sup>40</sup> AMEC, Essar Energy, Eurasia Natural Resource Corporation, Evraz, Kazakhmys, Lonmin, Serco Group, Tate & Lyle and Vedanta. <sup>41</sup> Xstrata was taken over by Glencore in May 2013.
- <sup>42</sup> This sector has been taken to include companies involved in retail, supermarkets, clothing, food and drink, tobacco and other personal goods.
- <sup>43</sup> Financial Times Global 500 as at October 2014, available from: http://www.ft.com/intl/cms/s/0/988051be-fdee-11e3-bd0e-00144feab7de.html#axzz3EzgKQNou.
- <sup>44</sup> C.I.A.*The World Factbook. France*. See: https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/fr.html
- <sup>45</sup> "France and Globalization", Lecture by Mme Christine Lagarde, Minister Delegate for Foreign Trade, to the Ecole des hautesétudescommerciales in Lille (excerpts), 6 May 2006, available at: http://www.ambafrance-uk.org/France-and-Globalization-Lecture.
- <sup>46</sup> European Council, Press conference given by M. Jacques Chirac, President of the Republic, following the European Council (excerpts), 24 March 2006, available at: http://www.ambafrance-uk.org/European-Council-Press-conference.html.
- <sup>47</sup> Fortune Global 500, available at: http://fortune.com/global500/gdf-suez-44/.
  <sup>48</sup> Autorité des Marchés Financiers, *Guide to preventing insider misconduct by executives of listed companies, AMF*
- Recommendation No. 2010-07 of 3 November 2010, available at: http://www.amf-france.org/documents/general/9726\_1.pdf. <sup>49</sup> Les Droits de l'Homme dans les enterprises du CAC 40: Enjeux, bonnes pratiques et recommendations, May 2011, Deloitte,
- availableat: http://business-humanrights.org/media/documents/etude-droits-de-homme-cac-40.pdf <sup>50</sup> Alcatel-Lucent, Kering and Valeo were not covered by the research.
- <sup>51</sup> This sector has been taken to include companies involved in retail, supermarkets, clothing, food and drink, tobacco and other personal goods.
- <sup>52</sup> "Germany", CIA World Fact Book as at October 2014, available at https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/gm.html; as established for 2013, "Country Comparison: Exports", CIA World Fact Book, available at: https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/rankorder/2078rank.html.
- <sup>53</sup> See Financial Times Global 500 as at October 2014, available at: from: http://www.ft.com/intl/cms/s/0/988051be-fdee-11e3-bd0e-00144feab7de.html#axzz3EzgKQNou; and Fortune Global 500, available at: http://fortune.com/global500/ volkswagen-8/, respectively.

<sup>54</sup> Guide to the Equity Indices of Deutsche Börse, Version 6.28, August 2014, Deutsche Börse, para. 1.1.1, available at: http://www. rwe.com/web/cms/mediablob/en/195148/data/113836/6/rwe/investor-relations/shares/shareholder-structure/Guide-tothe-Equity-Indizes-of-Deutsche-Boerse.pdf.

55 Ibid.

- <sup>56</sup> German Stock Corporation Act, s.161
- <sup>57</sup> Fortune Global 500, available at: http://fortune.com/global500/gdf-suez-44/.
- <sup>58</sup> Renato Benninatto, 'Globalization German Style: 75% of Sales Come from Abroad', 25 April 2011, Localization Industry 411 (Blog), available at: http://www.l10n411.com/2011/04/globalization-german-style-75-of-sales.html
- <sup>59</sup> This sector has been taken to include companies involved in retail, supermarkets, clothing, food and drink, tobacco and other personal goods.
- <sup>60</sup> See, for example, War on Want, Fanning the Flames: The role of British mining companies in conflict and the violation of human rights, November 2007; and Platform et al, 'Open letter to the Boards of Royal Dutch Shell plc and Shell Companies in Nigeria', February 2012. See also: Business and Human Rights Resource Centre, 'Case profile: Rio Tinto lawsuit (re Papua New Guinea)'; Centre for Constitutional Rights, 'Kiobel v. Royal Dutch Petroleum Co'.
- <sup>61</sup> EarthRights International, Total Impact: The Human Rights, Environmental, and Financial Impacts of Total and Chevron's Yadana Gas Project in Military ruled Burma, Myanmar, September 2009
- <sup>62</sup> London Mining Network, 'Essar accused of funding opposing armed groups in India', September 2011.
- <sup>63</sup> Institute for Human Rights and Business, Lonmin Tragedy: Time to Take Human Rights Due Diligence Seriously, August 2913.
- <sup>64</sup> Ejolt, 'Madagascar: Local protests against Rio Tinto', January 2013.
- <sup>65</sup> Institute for Development and Peace (INEF), *Human Rights Impact Assessment of the Tampakan Copper-Gold Project, June 2013.*
- <sup>66</sup> Danwatch, The Curse of Coal: Our coal consumption causes diseases, pollution, and poverty in Colombia, May 2010; Renewable Resources Coalition & NunamtaAulukesati (Caretakers of Our Land), Anglo American's Track Record: Rhetoric or Reality, July 2008.
- <sup>67</sup> Ejolt, *Mining conflicts around the world September 2012*, September 2012.
- <sup>68</sup> CEE Bankwatch Network, Ecological Society Green Salvation, Kazakhstan, Friends of the Earth Europe and others, *In the wake of ArcelorMittal: The global steel giant's local impacts*, May 2008.
- <sup>69</sup> Crude Accountability, 'The Campaign: 2003-Today'(Blog),X
- <sup>70</sup> Greenpeace, Point of No Return, January 2013; Danwatch, The Curse of Coal: Our coal consumption causes diseases, pollution, and poverty in Colombia, May 2010; BHP Billiton Watch, BHP Billiton: Other sides to the story, An Alternative Annual Report 2010, November 2010; "Peru Toxic Spill: Cajacay Villagers Say Government Neglected Them After Antamina Pipeline Rupture", September 2009, The Huffington Post.
- <sup>71</sup> Business and Human Rights Resource Centre, Briefings entitled, 'Human rights impacts of oil pollution: US Gulf Coast' and 'Human rights impacts of oil pollution: US Gulf Coast', both undated; 'BP sold Texas oil refinery after making hundreds of people sick, victims claim' April 2013, RT
- <sup>72</sup> Bread for All & Catholic Lenten Fund, Glencore in the Democratic Republic of Congo: Profit before Human Rights and the Environment, April 2012; Bread for All, Swiss Catholic Lenten Fund and Bench Marks Foundation, Contracts, human rights and taxation: How a company exploits a country. The case of Glencore in the DRC, March 2011.
- <sup>73</sup> Ejolt, *Mining conflicts around the world September 2012,* September 2012; London Mining Network, *Rio Tinto: A Shameful History of Human and Labour Rights Abuses and Environmental Degradation Around the Globe,* April 2010.
- <sup>74</sup> Amnesty International, Don't Mine Us out of Existence: Bauxite Mine and Refinery Devastate Lives in India, February 2010.
- <sup>75</sup> FOCO & Friends of the Earth Argentina vs. Shell Capsa, Argentinian National Contact Point/ Dutch National Contact Point; Shell Accountability Coalition, Use your profit to clean up your mess: Report on how Shell should fund local solutions for environmental and social destruction caused by its projects, February 2007.
- <sup>76</sup> Bankwatch Network, Corner House, Platform and others, *The reality behind EU "energy security": The case of Nigeria*, November 2011.
- <sup>77</sup> Danwatch, *The Curse of Coal: Our coal consumption causes diseases, pollution, and poverty in Colombia*, May 2010; 'Study confirms Mt Isa lead poisoning risk', August 2010, ABC News; 'Peru Toxic Spill: Cajacay Villagers Say Government Neglected Them AfterAntamina Pipeline Rupture', September 2009, The Huffington Post.
- <sup>78</sup> Institute for Development and Peace (INEF), Human Rights Impact Assessment of the Tampakan Copper-Gold Project, June 2013.
- <sup>79</sup> Amazon Watch, Letter to GDF Suez Protesting the Company's Destructive Role in the Madeira River Complex, January 2010.
- <sup>80</sup> Survival International v. Vedanta Plc, UK National Contact Point, March 2010.
- <sup>81</sup> Global Witness welcomes SFO announcement of formal investigation into ENRC', April 2013, Global Witness.
- <sup>82</sup> 'Monitoring of human rights violations and other socially significant events in Kazakhstan', Open Dialogue Foundation, April 2013.
- <sup>83</sup> The FCPA Blog, 'Paris court sentences two former Technip execs for Nigeria bribes', February 2013.
- <sup>84</sup> See for example, 'Tangenti per il petrolio in Basilicata: arrestatil'ad Total e un deputato del Pd', December 2008, Il Giornale,; 'Total faces corruption investigation' June 2010, New Statesman,; and 'Total to pay \$398 million in bribery cases involving Iran' June 2013, Oil and Gas Journal,.
- <sup>85</sup> Global Action on ArcelorMittal and others, *Working for development? ArcelorMittal's mining operations in Liberia, June 2010.*
- <sup>86</sup> Heinrich Boll Stiftung and Friends of the Earth Europe, *Locking up the Future: Unconventional Oil in Africa, December 2011.*
- <sup>87</sup> 'Tullow Oil's foul play in Ghana' June 2012, Platform; Platform & African Institute for Energy Governance, A Lake of Oil: Congo's contracts escalate conflict, pollution and poverty, May 2010; Platform, Cursed Contracts: Uganda's Oil Agreements Put Profit Before People, February 2010.
- <sup>88</sup> 'At least 66 dead in Russian coal mining disaster', May 2010, Mines and Communities; Bread for All & Catholic Lenten Fund, *Glencore in the Democratic Republic of Congo: Profit before Human Rights and the Environment*, April 2012; Bread for All,

Catholic Lenten Fund & Bench Marks Foundation, *Contracts, human rights and taxation: How a company exploits a country. The case of Glencore in the DRC,* March 2011; Counter Balance, *The Mopani Copper Mine, Zambia: How European Development Money has fed a mining scandle,* December 2010; Friends of the Earth and others, *ArcelorMittal: Going nowhere slowly,* May 2009; CEE Bakwatch Network, Ecological Society Green Salvation, Friends of the Earth Europe and others, *In the Wake of ArcelorMittal: The global steel giant's local impacts,* May 2008.

- <sup>89</sup> 'RBS faces AGM protests over tar sands cash', April 2011, The Independent; Friends of the Earth, *Barclays and the financing of the Narmada Dams, January 2005; 'World Bank Group finances company involved in the illegal destruction of the Congo rainforest' August 2007, Greenpeace; 'World's Biggest Palm Oil Trader Shamed', July 2007, Friends of the Earth Netherlands; Fairfin, Harmful investments by AXA, February 2010; BankTrack, Mind the Gap: Benchmarking credit policies of international banks, December 2007; urgewald, Ölfür Deutschland, kostees was eswolle: Deutsche Banken in der russischenÖlförderung, July 2006.*
- <sup>90</sup> 'UK companies linked to devastating Indian mine', June 2009, The Ecologist; 'RBS faces AGM protests over tar sands cash', April 2011, The Independent; 'RBS under fire over more 'dirty' investments', April 2010, The Herald; 'Harmful investments by AXA', Fairfin, February 2010; Mind the Gap: Benchmarking credit policies of international banks, BankTrack, December 2007.
- <sup>91</sup> IKV Pax Christi & Fairfin, Worldwide investments in Cluster Munitions: a shared responsibility, June 2012.
- <sup>92</sup> Jim Armitage 'Old Mutual seems unembarrassed by its links with Mugabe's Zimbabwe', December 2012, The Independent; *Mind the Gap: Benchmarking credit policies of international banks*, BankTrack, December 2007.
- <sup>93</sup> Global Witness, *Rubber Barons: How Vietnamese Companies and International Financiers are Driving a Land Grabbing Crisis in Cambodia and Laos, May 2013; Friends of the Earth Europe, Sime Darby and land grabs in Liberia: French banks financing land grabbing, April 2013; Friends of the Earth International, Hungary Futures: Is your money feeding poverty? January 2012.*
- <sup>94</sup> 'En los laberintos de la Justicia' ['In the Labyrinth of Justice'], March 2010, Pagina 12; 'RBS agrees to end work for Belarus', August 2011, BBC News; 'Barclays accused of giving Robert Mugabe 'financial lifeline', June 2008, The Telegraph.
- <sup>95</sup> For an in-depth analysis of the links in this regard see: International Council on Human Rights Policy and Transparency International, *Corruption and Human Rights: Making the Connection*, 2009, available at: http://www.ichrp.org/files/ reports/40/131\_web.pdf.
- <sup>96</sup> 'HSBC to pay \$1.9 billion U.S. fine in money-laundering case', 11 December 2012, Reuters, available at: http://www.reuters. com/article/2012/12/11/us-hsbc-probe-idUSBRE8BA05M20121211; 'HSBC Exposed U.S. Financial System to Money Laundering, Drug, Terrorist Financing Risks', July 2012, US Senate Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations; 'Barclays Agrees to Pay \$298 Million for Violating U.S. Trade Law,'September 2010, The New York Times; 'Lloyds TSB Bank Plc Agrees to Forfeit \$350 Million in Connection with Violations of the International Emergency Economic Powers Act', December 2009, US Department of Justice; 'Bank Settles Iran Money Case', 12 August 2012, The Wall Street Journal; 'RBS to Pay \$100 Million to Settle U.S. Sanctions Probe', 12 December 2013, Bloomberg, available at: http://www.bloomberg.com/news/2013-12-11/rbsto-pay-100-million-to-settle-u-s-sanctions-violation-probe.html.<sup>97</sup> Global Witness, *International Thief Thief: How British banks are complicit in Nigerian corruption, October 2010.*
- <sup>98</sup> Global Witness, Undue diligence. How banks do business with corrupt regimes, March 2009.

99 Ibid.

- <sup>100</sup> Facing Finance, Dirty Profits: Report on Companies and Financial Institutions Benefiting from Violations of Human Rights, December 2012.
- <sup>101</sup> Friends of the Earth, Farming money: How European banks and private finance profit from food speculation and land grabs, January 2012.
- <sup>102</sup> Human Rights Watch, A Strange Case: Violations of Workers' Freedom of Association in the United States by European Multinational Corporations, September 2010; 'Tesco accused of anti-union practices in Turkey', February 2010, UNI; International Union of Food, Agricultural, Hotel, Restaurant, Catering, Tobacco and Allied Workers' Associations (IUF) v. Compass Group PLC (EurestAlgerie Spa), UK National Contact Point; FNV Mondiaal, Adding insecurity to life: Unilever, May 2009; SOMO, Unilever: Overview of controversial business practices in 2008, April 2009.
- <sup>103</sup> War on Want, Fashion Victims II: How UK clothing retailers are keeping workers in poverty, December 2008; War on Want, Fashion Victims: The true cost of clothes at Primark, Asda and Tesco December 2006; Labour Behind the Label, Let's clean up fashion: The State of Pay behind the UK high street, 2008. SOMO and India Committee of the Netherlands, Maid in India: Young Dalit Women Continue to Suffer Exploitative Conditions in India's Garment Industry, May 2013; International Textile Garment and Leather Workers' Federation, An Overview of Working Conditions in Sportswear Factories in Indonesia, Sri Lanka & the Philippines April 2011; War on Want and Labour Behind the Label, Taking Liberties: The story behind the UK high street December 2010; Action Aid, Who Pays? The real cost of cheap school uniforms August 2007; Labour Behind the Label, TUC & Fair Play Alliance, Sweet FA? Football associations, workers' rights and the World Cup, June 2006; Global Labour Rights, Ocean Sky: Women paid 8 Cents for each \$25 NFL Shirt they sew at Ocean Sky Sweatshop, January 2011.
- <sup>104</sup> SOMO, Captured by Cotton: Exploited Dalit girls produce garments in India for European and US markets, May 2011; Action Aid, Who Pays? How British supermarkets are keeping Women Workers in Poverty, May 2011; War on Want, Growing Pains: The human cost of cut flowers in British supermarkets, March 2007; War on Want & SikhulaSonke, Sour Grapes: South African wine workers and British supermarket power, February 2009.
- <sup>105</sup> 'Cambodia farmers launch action against Tate &Lyle', April 2013, This is Money.co.uk; Greenpeace, How Unilever Palm Oil Suppliers are burning up Borneo, 2008; Greenpeace, Slaughtering the Amazon, June 2009.

<sup>106</sup> For some of the challenges on this regard see, International Federation for Human Rights, *China's workers are calling for change. What role should brands play?*May 2013

<sup>107</sup> War on Want, Fashion Victims II: How UK clothing retailers are keeping workers in poverty, December 2008; Action Aid, Who Pays? The real cost of cheap school uniforms August 2007. Action Aid, Who Pays? How British supermarkets are keeping Women Workers in Poverty, May 2011; International Textile Garment and Leather Workers' Federation, An Overview of Working Conditions in Sportswear Factories in Indonesia, Sri Lanka & the Philippines April 2011; SOMO, Who reaps the Fruit?

Critical Issues in the Fresh Fruit and Vegetable Chain, June 2006.

- <sup>108</sup> Alstom participe à la destruction de l'Amazonie et des peuples indigenes', April 2011, Survival International; Green Alternative, Oxfam and CEE Bankwatch Network, BTC Pipeline – An IFI Recipe for Increasing Poverty, October 2005; 'German engineering – regardless of the consequences?' June 2013, European Centre for Constitutional and Human Rights (ECCHR).
- <sup>109</sup> Conflict Risk Network, Sudan Company Report 2012, Quarter 4, November 2012; APRODEV and others, Trading Away Peace: How Europe helps sustain illegal Israeli settlements, October 2012; Amnesty International, Туркменистан: подавлениеинакомыслия и свободывероисповеданияпродолжается [Turkmenistan: the suppression of dissent and religious freedom continues], May 2005.
- <sup>110</sup> Trace International, *The Trace Compendium: Alstom, February 2012;* 'Bouygues : un Turkmenbachi en béton...,' July 2011 (updated), International Federation for Human Rights; 'Vinci – a cover for oligarchs and tax havens in Russia's first road PPP,' April 2011, CEE Bankwatch Network and Movement to Defend Khimki Forest (EcoOborona).
- <sup>111</sup> August 2008, available at: http://www.ifhhro.org/images/stories/ifhhro/documents\_UN\_special\_rapporteur/3\_4\_8.pdf.
- <sup>112</sup> 'From tragedy to travesty: Drugs tested on survivors of Bhopal' November 2011. The Independent; 'Drugs giants used Communist East Germany for "illegal" trials' May 2013, The Independent; 'GlaxoSmithKline, Britain's biggest drug firm, has been fined by an Argentine court over clinical trials of a pneumonia vaccine' January 2012, The Telegraph.
- <sup>113</sup> 'The Youngest Market: Baby Food Peddlers Undermine Breastfeeding' July/August 2008, Multinational Monitor; 'Drug's chilling path to market', May 2007, Tampa Bay Times; United States Senate Committee on Finance, *The Intimidation of Dr. John Buse and the Diabetes Drug Avandia*, November 2007; SOMO, ONCADO, GlaxoSmithKline company profile, October 2004.
- <sup>114</sup> SOMO, *AkzoNobel Overview of controversial business practices in 2008*, April 2009; 'Aventis Pays More Than \$190 Million to Settle Drug Pricing Fraud Matters' September 2007, US Department of Justice; Oxfam International, *Investing for Life,* November 2007; 'US: Generic Drug Payoff Draws Gov't. Interest' April 2006, Associated Press; 'Glaxo Agrees to Pay \$3 Billion in Fraud Settlement' July 2012, The New York Times.
- <sup>115</sup> See the International Law Commission's commentary on Article 5 of the Draft Articles on the Responsibility of States for Internationally Wrongful Acts, which makes explicit reference to the outsourcing of prison services (a function of a public character normally exercised by State organs), engaging State responsibility where wrongful acts occur. See *Draft articles on Responsibility of States for Internationally Wrongful Acts*, with commentaries, 2001, p.43.
- <sup>116</sup> 'High court issues damning judgment on 'widespread unlawful use of restraint' in child prisons run by G4S and Serco', January 2012, Children's Rights Alliance for England (CRAE); 'Companies Use Immigration Crackdown to Turn a Profit', September 2011, The New York Times; Corporate Watch, *Immigration prisons: Brutal, unlawful & profitable – Yarl'sWood, A Case Study, January 2011.*

<sup>117</sup> War on Want, Up Front: The Privatisation of War, Autumn/Winter 2012.

- <sup>118</sup> 'BAE Systems handed £286m criminal fines in UK and US', February 2010, BBC News; Facing Finance, *Dirty Profits: Report* on Companies and Financial Institutions Benefiting from Violations of Human Rights, November 2012; 'Safrancondamné pour corruption active', September 2012, Les Echos.
- <sup>119</sup> CampagnetegenWapenhandel, *European Aeronautic Defense and Space Company EADS: European technology arming the world*, May 2011; France to modernise Libyan Mirage F1s' March 2012, Defence Web; 'The EU Code of Conduct fails to prevent French Helicopters being produced under licence in India and transferred to Nepal', September 2004, Amnesty International.
- <sup>120</sup> 'French, South Korean Unions Call on Renault to Respect Labor Rights in Turkey', November 2012, Turkish Weekly; Human Rights Watch, U.S.: Review of the National Contact Point for the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises, June 2006; 'Daimler Must Face Claims Over Argentina 'Dirty War' Worker Kidnappings' May 2011, Bloomberg; Clean Clothes Campaign, Workers' voices: the situation of women in Eastern European and Turkish garment industries, 2005.
- <sup>121</sup> Greenpeace, Driving Destruction in the Amazon: How steel production is throwing the forest into the furnace, February 2013; 'Automakers not driven by responsibility', February 2010, SOMO; 'Plundering the Amazon' August 2009, Bloomberg; Greenpeace, Slaughtering the Amazon, June 2009.
- <sup>122</sup> 'When France Telecom Helps to Monitor Citizens of an Authoritarian Regime', June 2012, Internet sans Frontières; Global Network Initiative, *Digital Freedoms in International Law*, June 2012; 'Torture in Bahrain Becomes Routine With Help From Nokia Siemens' August 2011, Bloomberg; Access/ FairPensions, *Stay Connected: Telecoms & the protection of human rights*, July 2011; 'Nokia Siemens lawsuit dropped by Iranian plaintiffs' June 2010, Deutsche Welle.
- <sup>123</sup> 'When France Telecom Helps To Monitor Citizens Of An Authoritarian Regime', June 2012, Internet sans Frontières; *Digital Freedoms in International Law, Global Network Initiative, June 2012;* 'Torture in Bahrain Becomes Routine With Help From Nokia Siemens', August 2011, *Bloomberg.*
- <sup>124</sup> Protect, Respect and Remedy: a Framework for Business and Human Rights, Report of the Special Representative of the Secretary-General on the issue of human rights and transnational corporations and other business enterprises, Addendum 2, Corporations and human rights: a survey of the scope and patterns of alleged corporate-related human rights abuse, 23 May 2008, A/HRC/8/5/ Add.2.
- <sup>125</sup> A renewed EU strategy 2011-14 for Corporate Social Responsibility, p.6.
- <sup>126</sup> John Gerard Ruggie, Just Business: Multinational Corporations and Human Rights, (New York: W. W. Norton & Company, 2013), p.172.

- <sup>128</sup> The Corporate Responsibility to Respect Human Rights: An Interpretive Guide, OHCHR, 2012, p.6, available at: http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/HR.PUB.12.2\_En.pdf.
- <sup>129</sup> O. De Schutter, A. Ramasastry, M. B. Taylor, R. C. Thompson, *Human Rights Due Diligence: The Role of States, December 2012, available from:* http://www.corporatejustice.org/IMG/pdf/human\_rights\_due\_diligence-the\_role\_of\_states-2.pdf.
- <sup>130</sup> Maastricht Principles on Extraterritorial Obligations of States in the area of Economic, Social and Cultural Rights,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>127</sup> Ibid., p.97-8.

February 2012, available at: http://www.fian.org/fileadmin/media/publications/2012.02.29\_-\_Maastricht\_Principles\_on\_ Extraterritorial\_Obligations.pdf

- <sup>131</sup> Rajesh Chhabara, "Voluntary initiatives Message lost in the crowd?",13 May 2009, Ethical Corporation, available at: http://www.ethicalcorp.com/stakeholder-engagement/voluntary-initiatives-%E2%80%93-message-lost-crowd.
- <sup>132</sup> See for example, United Nations Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights, UN Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights, Guiding Principle 21.
- <sup>133</sup> United Nations Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights, commentary to Guiding Principle 21, pp.23-4.
- <sup>134</sup> Commentary on the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises, OECD, 2008, para.12.
- <sup>135</sup> Responsibility and Commitment: Bayer Human Rights Position, Bayer AG, December 2008, p.7.
- <sup>136</sup> How Companies Influence Our Society: Citizens' View, Flash Eurobarometer survey 363, April 2013; Solidarity that Spans the Globe: Europeans and Development Aid, Special Eurobarometer 392, October 2012.
- <sup>137</sup> EarthRights International, *Getting it wrong: Flawed "Corporate Social Responsibility" and Misrepresentations Surrounding Total* and Chevron's Yadana Gas Pipeline in Military-Ruled Burma, Myanmar, September 2009.
- <sup>138</sup> Survival International v. Vedanta Plc, UK OECD National Contact Point (see OECD Watch summary, available at: http://oecdwatch.org/cases/Case\_165).
- <sup>139</sup> 'Writers criticise Tesco for 'chilling' Thai libel actions' April 2008, *The Guardian*; 'EDF's vengeful £5m No Dash for Gas lawsuit is corporate and PR suicide', February 2013, The Guardian.
- <sup>140</sup> United States Senate Committee on Finance, The Intimidation of Dr. John Buse and the Diabetes Drug Avandia, November 2007; 'Imperial Tobacco Canada Destroyed Documents Containing Studies On The Health Effects Of Smoking,'October 2009, Medical News Today.
- <sup>141</sup> Amnesty International, The True 'Tragedy': Delays and Failures in Tackling Oil Spills in the Niger Delta, November 2011; Fenceline Community and FoE NL vs. Royal Dutch Shell, Dutch National Contact Point, (see OECD Watch summary, available at:http:// oecdwatch.org/cases/Case\_93); 'Vedanta's Perspective Uncovered: Policies Cannot Mask Practices', August 2012, Amnesty International; BHP Billiton Watch, BHP Billiton: Dirty Energy, Alternative Annual Report, November 2011; Friends of the Earth vs. ArcelorMittal, Luxembourg OECD National Contact Point (see OECD Watch summary, available at: http://oecdwatch.org/ cases/Case\_199); Ground Work & European Coalition for Corporate Justice, Failure to Communicate: A Case Study of Steel Conglomerate ArcelorMittal in South Africa, September 2009.
- <sup>142</sup> 'Genocide in Sudan', January 2007, Ethical Consumer, available at: http://www.ethicalconsumer.org/commentanalysis/ corporatewatch/genocideinsudan.aspx
- <sup>143</sup> G. Skinner, R. McCorquodale, O. De Schutter, A. Lambe, *The Third Pillar: Access to Judicial Remedies for Human Rights Violations by Transnational Business*, December 2013, ICAR, CORE, ECCJ, available at: http://www.corporatejustice.org/IMG/pdf/the\_third\_pillar\_-access\_to\_judicial\_remedies\_for\_human\_rights\_violation.-1-2.pdf.
- <sup>144</sup> European Commission. 'Business and human rights: New United Nations guidelines', n.1.
- <sup>145</sup> Ibid. Company policies making explicit reference to human rights, whether or not they participate in the UN Global Compact are available from the Business and Human Rights Resource Centre, 'Company Policy Statements on Human Rights'. Available at: http://www.business-humanrights.org/Documents/Policies.